1972

## Mildred D. Dubois v. F. Ray Dubois, Jr. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF THE KIND OF CASE

This is an action for a divorce in which the plaintiff sought a division of the marital estate, alimony and attorney fees.

### DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The Court awarded the plaintiff a divorce on grounds of mental cruelty and then, having ultimately valued the marital estate at \$581,911.00, awarded respondent 60% of that estate, permanent alimony in the amount of \$375.00 per month and attorney fees in the sum of \$10,000.00. Appellant appeals from all portion of the Decree of Divorce excepting the awarding of the divorce.

## RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks to have the value of respondent's interest in the estate of Dr. Charles E. Hirth included in the marital estate; the property awarded to respondent out of the marital estate, as expanded by the above, fixed at \$307,000.00; and to have the alimony and attorney fees awarded to respondent eliminated entirely.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

Appellant and respondent were married on December 13, 1942, in San Antonio, Texas. Two children were born to the parties, both of whom are now over the age of 21. (T.T. 47-48)\* On or about June 23, 1970, respondent filed a Complaint in the District Court of Salt Lake County seeking a decree of divorce on grounds of mental cruelty and praying for an award of an equitable portion of the marital estate, seeking alimony, and praying for an award of attorney fees.

The case came on for trial before the Honorable Marcellus K. Snow, District Judge of the District Court of Salt Lake County on July 28, 29 and 30, 1971. On August 4, 1971, the Court issued a memorandum opinion awarding the respondent an Interlocutory Decree of Divorce; valuing the marital estate at approximately \$570,000.00; awarding the plaintiff 60% of the marital estate as thus valued, establishing certain guide lines for the division of the estate among the parties,

---

\* (Note: T.T. refers to the Trial Transcript)



and awarding the respondent alimony and \$10,000.00 attorney fees. On January 10, 1972, the Court entered its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and its Decree of Divorce, which confirmed the awards set forth in its memorandum opinion of August 4, 1971, with the exception that \$581,911.00 was accepted as the value of the estate rather than \$570,000.00. (F.F. 5-6) The court, however, failed to offer any explanation for this increase in the estate's valuation.

The Court in its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law expressly excluded from the marital estate any property which the respondent might succeed to by way of an inheritance from the estate of Dr. Charles E. Hirth. (F.F. 4)\* Dr. Hirth died in May, 1970, (T.T. 144) approximately one month before the respondent commenced her action for a divorce. The respondent's interest in this estate has been valued at approximately \$100,000.00 by respondent, less certain minor expenses associated with the upkeep of Dr. Hirth's burial site, a bequest of \$2,000.00 to a church and the expenses of administering the estate. (T.T. 83-84) The minimum net value of this inheritance to respondent was estimated as being between \$75,000 and \$100,000.00 (T.T. 198). In addition, the Court in its Findings of Fact failed to mention or include within the marital estate the expectancy which the respondent has in her mother's estate. Uncontradicted evidence indicates, in reference to this,

---

\* (Note: F.F. refers to the trial court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law)

that respondent will be the sole beneficiary of her mother's estate, that this estate is valued at a minimum of \$150,000.00, (T.T. 199) and that her mother is aged, feeble and living in a nursing home. (T.T. 47-48, 85-86, 93 and 140-41)

The Court also expressly found in its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law that the greater bulk of the assets of the marital estate was derived from gifts and inheritances received from respondent's side of the family. (F.F. 2) The underlying and uncontradicted evidence indicates, however, that respondent received only a total of \$117,509.00 in gifts and inheritance from her side of the family during the course of the parties' marriage (T.T. 22), and that appellant received a total of \$66,137.00 in gifts and inheritances from respondent's side of the family during that same period of time. (T.T. 24) During that same time period, however, appellant contributed in excess of \$500,000.00 in earned income to the marital estate. (T.T. 152).

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY EXCLUDING FROM ITS VALUATION OF THE MARITAL ESTATE THE VALUE OF RESPONDENT'S INHERITANCE IN THE ESTATE OF DR. CHARLES E. HIRTH AND BY FAILING TO PROP-

ERLY CONSIDER THIS INHERITANCE AND THE RESPONDENT'S EXPECTANCY IN HER MOTHER'S ESTATE WHEN IT DIVIDED THE MARITAL ESTATE.

- A. Utah law requires that property interests which vest in either husband or wife prior to the dissolution of the marriage be included within the marital estate and be considered by the court in adjusting the rights of the parties in that estate.

The trial court in its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law expressly excluded from the marital estate respondent's vested inheritance in the estate of her uncle Dr. Charles E. Hirth. (F.F. 4) The minimum value of this inheritance was established by the evidence as being between \$75,000.00 and \$100,000.00. (T.T. 198)

In *McDonald v. McDonald*, 120 Utah 573, 576-83, 236 P.2d 1066 (1951), this Court held that the trial court had properly taken into consideration, in adjusting the financial affairs of the parties, an inheritance which the wife had received approximately one year before the initiation of the divorce proceedings in question but subsequent to the commencement of the marital difficulties between them. *Accord, Michelsen v. Michelsen*, 14 Utah 2d 328, 329-30, 383 P.2d 932 (1963); *cf.*, *Woolley v. Woolley*, 195 P.2d 743 (Utah 1948). It

should be noted that these cases are in accord with the decisions of courts in other jurisdictions which have held that property interests vested in a party at the time of the divorce, although not presently reduced to that party's possession, are to be considered in adjusting the financial and property affairs of the parties. *Schreiber v. Schreiber*, 224 So. 2d 407 (Fla. 1969); *Clarke v. Clarke*, 188 N.E. 2d 619 (Ohio, 1963); *Smyth v. Smyth*, 179 P.2d 920 (Okla. 1947)

- B. Under Utah law contingent future interests must be considered by the trial court in adjusting the parties' rights in the marital estate.

In view of the court's award of sixty percent of the marital estate to the respondent from which it excluded respondent's vested inheritance in the estate of Dr. Charles E. Hirth, the approximate net value of which was established by the evidence as being between \$75,000.00 and \$100,000.00, (T.T. 198) it is clear that the court completely failed to give any consideration to the respondent's expectancy in her mother's estate, which was valued by uncontradicted testimony at a minimum of \$150,000.00. (T.T. 199), and which the trial court completely failed to mention in its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law or in its Memorandum Opinion, when it divided the marital estate. In *MacDonald v. MacDonald, supra*, this court held that the wife's expectancy in the estate of her aged mother was rightly considered by the trial court in adjusting the fi-

nancial affairs of the parties. 120 Utah at pp. 578 and 582; *cf.*, *James v. James*, 248 S.W.2d 706, 708 (Ky. 1952), where the court affirmed a lump sum alimony award, which is akin to a property settlement award, which was based in part upon the husband's expectancy in his mother's estate, he being the only heir.

## POINT II

**THE COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY ADMITTING EVIDENCE THAT WAS BASED UPON THE THEORY THAT THE MARITAL ESTATE OF THE PARTIES WAS A TRUST CORPUS AND THE APPELLANT ITS TRUSTEE AND BY ADOPTING THAT THEORY AS THE BASIS OF ITS DIVISION OF THE MARITAL ESTATE.**

- A. The Utah Courts have never interpreted or applied either U.C.A. Section 30-2-1, or Section 2 of Article XXII of the Utah Constitution relating to the emancipation of married women, to the division and distribution of the marital estate in a divorce proceeding, but rather, have always treated the powers granted them under U.C.A. Section 30-3-5 as pervasive, allowing them to reach all of the property of both the husband and the wife.

Respondent's attorney argued that since the relation of husband and wife is one of trust and confidence, any contribution to the marital estate by the wife or her family constituted a trust corpus, which, if managed by the husband along with his contributions to the family estate, constituted him a trustee. (T.T. 242-248) Moreover, according to this theory, when discord subsequently erupts between the parties, this trust relationship dictates that all of the trust assets, as originally contributed by the wife or her family, be traced, their productivity noted and a comparison made between their current value and a capitalized value utilizing an arbitrarily selected figure of seven percent. (T.T. 26-35) Then, if the current value of these assets is less than their hypothetically calculated capitalized value, the husband's contributions to the marital estate are to be surcharged for the difference. Then, the actual or capitalized value of these assets, whichever is greater, is awarded to the wife as her separate property. (T.T. 22-34 and see plaintiff's Exhibits P-2 and P-3).

Moreover, in calculating these values, you assume that all of the living expenses of the parties were paid out of the husband's contributions (T.T. 43), and you ignore any gifts or inheritances which the parties may have received from the husband's side of the family (T.T. 41). You also ignore the investment philosophy, goals, or practices of the husband (T.T. 44) and you neglect to deduct, in calculating the capitalized value of the trust assets, any gifts which the parties may have

made to their children during the course of their married lives (T.T. 45).

Respondent's attorney recognized when he proffered this theory to the court that there was no precedent for it under Utah law (T.T. 242). However, not only is there no precedent under Utah law for the acceptance or use of such a theory, but this court has itself previously considered such a theory and flatly rejected it. *Anderson v. Anderson*, 18 Utah 2d 286, 422 P.2d 192, 193-35 (1967). In that case the plaintiff's wife appealed from a judgment of the trial court wherein she had been awarded one-third of the parties total net assets plus \$200.00 per month as alimony and \$900.00 for attorney fees. The defendant husband had, during the course of the parties' marriage, engaged in a variety of business ventures unrelated to his regular job. Unfortunately, these ventures suffered a number of severe reverses and, at the time of divorce, the marital estate had liabilities in excess of \$71,000.00, with a net worth of approximately \$10,000.00. The plaintiff argued on appeal that their business debts should "be paid by the defendant out of his earnings and that she should be awarded one-half of all property remaining after these obligations . . . [have been] paid in full." 422 P.2d at pp. 193-94. The court in response to this argument held that:

"It is novel doctrine that would leave the husband with the accumulated liabilities of 30 years of married life and award to the wife

one-half of the net assets free and clear of these debts. Any business venture is accompanied by some risk of failure and to say that because the husband managed these investments it is his loss but that she will nevertheless share in the profitable portion of his financial endeavors, is an untenable suggestion. She married him "for better or worse." This does not mean the "better" for her and the "worse" for him. 422 P.2d at p. 194.

This result is completely in accord with the general rule that all of the property of the parties, including their separate property is subject to the control, direction and disposition of the divorce court when the statute involved directs the court to make such dispositions of the parties' property as it deems equitable. 24 Am. Jur. 2d *Divorce and Separation* § 926. The statute which is controlling here, U.C.A. § 30-3-5, utilizes this language and this court has always interpreted the power granted it thereunder broadly. See, for example the *MacDonald* and *Michelsen*, cases discussed, *supra*, under Point I.

Not only was evidence based upon respondent's "Trust" theory erroneously admitted over appellant's objections, (T.T. 22, 34-35 & 46) but it is obvious from the court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law that it was influenced thereby in making its property award to the respondent. One example of this influence is the court's findings that the appellant abused the re-



spondent's trust in him by creating an imbalance of investments in his own favor. (F.F. 2-3)

Moreover, it is only on the basis of such a theory that it would be possible for the court to find that the bulk of the assets in the marital estate had been produced from gifts and inheritances from respondent's side of the family. This is so because respondent's own testimony and evidence establishes that her side of the family during the course of the parties' marriage, contributed only \$117,509.00 by way of gifts or inheritance to her, and that they gave only an additional \$66,137.00 to the appellant. (T.T. 24) These figures ignore, of course, the value of the vested inheritance which respondent will receive from Dr. Hirth. In contrast to the total contributions of approximately \$183,000.00 by the respondent's family, \$66,137.00 of which was given to appellant and not to respondent, the appellant contributed over \$500,000.00 in earned income. (T.T. 152) This uncontradicted evidence, coupled with the court's other findings, compels the conclusion that the trial court committed reversible error by admitting evidence's based on respondent's "Trust" theory and by adopting that theory as the means of allocating the property contained in the marital estate.

### POINT III

**THE COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY AWARDED RESPONDENT ALIMONY.**

- A. Under Utah law, an award of alimony must be based upon the reasonable needs of the wife and in connection therewith, the court must consider those needs in relation to all of her present and prospective assets.

It appears to be generally accepted by most courts, including this Court, that the decision of whether or not to award a party alimony cannot be divorced from the property which the court awarded each party or from the total assets and resources of each party, including contingent future interests.

In Utah, the general rule is that an award of alimony must be based upon the reasonable needs of the party concerned. *Openshaw v. Openshaw*, 12 P.2d 364, 368 (Utah 1932); and *Allen v. Allen*, 165 P.2d 872 (Utah 1946). Having determined what these needs are, however, the court must then determine the amount of alimony that will be necessary to satisfy these needs in relation to all of the assets of the wife, including the assets awarded to her in the divorce proceeding and those which she will likely succeed to in the future. *MacDonald v. MacDonald*, 120 Utah 573, 236 P.2d 1066 (1951); *Cf. Stuckey v. Stuckey*, 41 Cal. Rptr. 792 (1964); *Henning v. Henning*, 362 P.2d 124 (Ariz. 1961); *Baugher v. Baugher*, 408 P.2d 443 (Colo. 1965); *Dworkis v. Dworkis*, 111 So. 2d 70 (Fla. 1959); *Richards v. Richards*, 355 P.2d 188 (Hail. 1960).

In the instant case the trial court awarded re-

spondent approximately \$347,044.00 of an estate valued ultimately by the court at \$581,911.00. The court, as noted above, expressly excluded from the estate respondent's vested inheritance from Dr. Hirth. Moreover, there is no indication in the record or in the court's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law that it took either respondent's inheritance from Dr. Hirth or her expectancy in her mother's estate into account when it awarded her permanent alimony in the amount of \$375.00 per month. Moreover, the record is also barren of any evidence, other than generalized statements by respondent that she enjoyed a high standard of living during the course of her marriage to appellant, (T.T. 56-69) and her own self-serving statement that she would need \$750.00 per month in alimony to make ends meet, (T.T. 69) of what her needs are. In this regard, it is interesting to note that even without taking respondent's expectancy in her mother's estate into account, respondent's total assets should produce approximately \$29,543.00 per year in income using seven percent as an average rate of return and assuming that respondent's total assets would equal \$422,044.00, which figure is the sum of the \$347,044.00 awarded respondent in this action and the minimum of \$75,000.00 in inheritance which she will receive or has already received from the estate of Dr. Hirth. It is difficult to see how, in view of these facts, an award of \$375.00 per month in alimony to respondent can be considered equitable or in any other fashion justified.

## POINT IV

## THE COURT COMMITTED REVERSIBLE ERROR BY AWARDING RESPONDENT ATTORNEY FEES.

- A. Under Utah law an award of attorney fees to a wife in a divorce action is based upon her need and in connection therewith, the court must consider all of the present and prospective assets of the wife.

In *Allredge v. Allredge*, 229 P.2d 681, 687 (Utah 1951), this court held that the rationale for allowing a wife suit money and attorney fees is that she "normally has no separate estate from which to pay for bringing or defending the action." And in *Weiss v. Weiss*, 111 Utah 353, 364, 179 P.2d 1005 (1947), this court also held that awards for attorney's fees and suit money may be made in the divorce decree "provided the necessity for such awards is found to exist." Accord, *Richards v. Richards*, 355 P.2d 188 (Hail. 1960); and *Henning v. Henning*, 362 P.2d 121 (Ariz. 1961).

In the instant case, the respondent had, according to her own testimony, approximately \$9,000.00 in savings in her name at the time the parties separated, (T.T. 78) and she received thereafter, at appellant's request, (T.T. 148) the annual rent check from the Illinois farms in the amount of approximately \$4,500.00 (T.T. 69 and 77). Moreover, appellant paid all of the accrued

household bills before he left Utah in October, 1970 (T.T. 149). Additionally, appellant, from the time that he separated from respondent in June, 1970, until he left the state in October, 1970, made voluntary support payments to respondent (T.T. 68). Even more important, respondent was awarded \$347,044.00 of the marital estate by the court which is over \$110,000.00 more than the court awarded appellant. Additionally, respondent has a vested interest in Dr. Hirth's estate valued at a minimum of \$75,000.00 (T.T. 198), and an expectancy in her mother's estate valued at a minimum of \$150,000.00 (T.T. 199). In view of the facts that respondent's assets greatly exceed appellant's and that she had sufficient income and liquid assets available to her throughout the course of this action to satisfy her needs and pay her bills, burdening appellant with the payment of respondent's attorney fees is unnecessary, inequitable and unconscionable.

#### POINT V

**THE COURT'S AWARD TO RESPONDENT WHEN VIEWED AS A WHOLE MANIFESTS AN INTENTION ON THE COURT'S PART TO UNLAWFULLY PUNISH APPELLANT.**

**A. Punitive measures have no place in Utah Divorce Law.**

In *Wilson v. Wilson*, 5 Utah 2d 79, 296 P.2d 977, 979 (1956), this court expressly stated that,

“We recognize that there is no authority in our law for administering punitive measures in a divorce judgment, and that to do so would be improper, except that the court may, and as a practical matter invariably does, consider the relative loyalty or disloyalty of the parties to their marriage vows, and their relative guilt or innocence in causing the breakup of the marriage.”

The court also noted that rarely is there ever a “wholly guilty or a wholly innocent party to a divorce action.” 296 P.2d at p. 979. The court then stated that the proper approach is for the court “to endeavor to provide a just and equitable adjustment of their economic resources so that the parties can reconstruct their lives on a happy and useful basis.” 296 P.2d at p. 979. *Accord, Anderson v. Anderson*, 18 Utah 2d 286, 422 P.2d 192 (1967).

In the instant action there is uncontradicted testimony that appellant worked extremely hard (14-16 hours per day) throughout the course of this marriage and, as a consequence, generated earnings in excess of \$500,000.00. (T.T. 152) The appellant did this in order to provide respondent with a very comfortable living and to amass the assets which are at issue on this appeal. On the other hand, respondent’s only financial contri-

bution to the marital estate, as valued by the trial court, was the gifts and inheritances which she received from her family, (T.T. 89) which only totaled \$117,509.00.

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