1972

# Mildred D. Dubois v. F. Ray Dubois, Jr. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I.

THE EXCLUSION OF RESPONDENT'S INTEREST IN THE ESTATE OF HER UNCLE AND HER EXPECTANCY, IF ANY, OF AN INHERITANCE FROM HER MOTHER WHO IS STILL LIVING WAS NOT AN ARBITRARY AND CAPRICIOUS ACTION ON THE PART OF THE TRIAL COURT.

The trial court was aware of the death of Dr. Hirth during the month of May, 1970, following the disclosure of appellant's relationship with Mrs. Parry and approximately a month prior to the filing of the complaint. It is not clear from appellant's brief whether he claims some allocation of that interest or whether the contention is that there should be a disclosure and an affirmative showing that the trial court acted with the discretion afforded it in such matters. As to the latter, the court expressly by

its findings of fact awarded to respondent the interest devised and bequeathed to her by her uncle.

*MacDonald v. MacDonald*, 120 Utah 573, 236 P. 2d 1066 (1951), cited by appellant, is a case that has been commented on many times by this court. There is nothing in the case that supports appellant's contention and in fact it is authority in support of the conclusion arrived at in the instant action by the trial court both as to the estate of Dr. Hirth and the expectancy, if any, from respondent's mother.

Section 30-3-5, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, provides for such orders in relation to the property "as may be equitable." There is no question but what Dr. Hirth made substantial gifts both in the way of property and cash to respondent and appellant during his lifetime. The Illinois farm lands, the property near Vernal and many substantial cash contributions came from him and were utilized by the parties in building up the large estate that the trial court had under consideration (R. 126-131). The equities of the situation including the conduct of appellant justify the discretion exercised by the trial court. *MacDonald v. MacDonald*, supra, has been repeatedly cited by this court in connection with the proposition that a divorce judgment will not be disturbed unless the evidence clearly preponderates against the finding of the trial court, or there has been a plain abuse of discretion, or where a manifest injustice or inequity is wrought. We submit that the judgment in the instant matter cannot

be equated with any circumstance that the holding in *MacDonald v. MacDonald* would condemn.

The facts in the *MacDonald* case are of a sordid nature and as have many times been stated each case must rest on its own factual premise, there being no "rule of thumb" in the application of the equitable principles involved. Mrs. MacDonald was the defendant and filed a cross complaint for divorce. The trial court entered a judgment for the husband and the wife appealed. This court held that the evidence supported the finding that the wife had been guilty of habitual drunkenness for a period of at least four years and affirmed the judgment of the lower court. Regardless of the defendant's condition which the court observed as being in most instances a manifestation of some mental or nervous illness or maladjustment to the problems of life where excessive drinking is often sought as an escape from the realities of existence, all of the physical assets of the property with the exception of the 1949 Hudson automobile were awarded to the defendant and the plaintiff was ordered to pay alimony in the sum of \$10.00 per year. The trial court was quoted as stating:

"Such assets are sufficient to care for defendant \* \* \* and should keep her in such fashion that she will not become a charge upon public authorities. Should defendant's financial condition become so that she is in danger of becoming a public charge, the duty of support should fall upon the plaintiff and not upon the public authorities \* \* \*."

Among the assets awarded to the defendant wife in

the *MacDonald* case was a bank account of a little more than \$6,900.00 in defendant's name which was the balance of an inheritance of \$8,000.00 which she had received in 1950. It was also stated that defendant had an expectancy in the estate of her mother who was 82 years of age at the time of the trial. The case contains the oft repeated statement as follows:

“The problem of attempting to do justice to parties in a divorce action as to the division of property and the awarding of alimony is undoubtedly one of the most perplexing situations ever to confront a court. The longer the period of marriage, the greater the difficulties. It would be a wise judge indeed who could accurately apportion the weight of all the factors and arrive at the one correct solution, if there be such. The problem is of such a nature as not to be susceptible of solution by any exact formula; indeed the authorities frequently say that for that reason each case must be determined upon its own facts.”

The opinion then cites from *Pinion v. Pinion*, 92 Utah 255, 67 P. 2d 265 (1937), from which was expressed a general formula in the attempt to get the factors in perspective all of which may not be present or important in every case, but which was applied to the evidence in the case then before it. The factors thus stated are: (1) the social position and standard of living of each before marriage, (2) the respective age of the parties, (3) what each may have given up for the marriage, (4) what money or property each brought into the marriage, (5) the physical and mental health of the parties, (6) the relative ability, training and education of the parties.

“The following points (7 to 15 inclusive) relate to conditions to be appraised at the time of the divorce, giving some attention to comparison with points 1 to 6 inclusive:”

(7) the time of duration of the marriage, (8) the present income of the parties and the property acquired during the marriage and owned either jointly or by each now, (9) how it was acquired and the efforts of each in doing so, (10) children reared, their present ages, and obligations to them or help which may in some instances be expected, (11) the present mental and physical health of the parties, (12) the present age and life expectancy of the parties, (13) the happiness and pleasure, or lack of it, experienced during marriage, (14) any extraordinary sacrifice, devotion or care which may have been given to the spouse or others, such as mother, father, etc., and obligations to other dependents having a secondary right to support, (15) the present standards of living and needs of each including the cost of living.

There is nothing in the foregoing that supports appellant's contention that the vested inheritance in the estate of Dr. Hirth be included in the “marital estate” if by that it is meant that appellant should participate directly or indirectly in the inheritance. Unlike the *MacDonald* case the inheritance came after the breakup of the marriage, but there is a similarity in that the bank account of something in excess of \$6,000.00 in Mrs. MacDonald's name, identified as the balance of an inheritance, was allocated to her intact. All of the material assets including the home and the household furniture with the exception of

the 1949 Hudson automobile were awarded to the defendant wife.

The expression that Mrs. MacDonald "has an expectancy in the estate of her mother who was 82 years of age at the time of the trial" was not equated with either a property allocation or alimony, but the court expressly stated that Mrs. MacDonald "should not be required to look to her mother for support, but the definite expectancy in her 82 year old mother's estate is something which may well be kept in mind as a future contingency."

Nothing else was said about the expectancy, in fact the connotation with respect to the award of the nominal sum of \$10.00 per year as alimony ignores the possibility, the court stating:

"In making the decree awarding defendant only the nominal sum of \$10 per year alimony, which was based on the then circumstances, Judge Van Cott expressly recited that it was for the purpose of preserving her right to alimony and directed that if danger of dependence appeared, the burden of her support *would fall upon plaintiff and not upon others.*" (Emphasis added.)

Appellant cites *Michelsen v. Michelsen*, 14 U. 2d 328, 383 P. 2d 932 (1963), as being in accord. In the *Michelsen* case it was stated that the plaintiff wife had an interest in the estate of her deceased father which was valued at approximately \$19,600.00 and the assertion was made that the trial judge failed to take into consideration the inheritance, it being a conceded fact that no mention was made of the item in the findings. This court held, how-

ever, that it was apparent that the trial judge did consider it "for it is discussed in his second Memorandum Decision". Alimony in the amount of \$275.00 a month was awarded to the wife and she was awarded the equity in the home situated on a 3½ acre tract of land in the Holladay area upon which the trial court placed a valuation of \$30,000.00 which was apparently offset by awarding to the husband certain shares of stock which the court found to have a value of \$20,000.00. The court in affirming the decree of the trial court concluded:

"The plaintiff is 57 years of age and was, at the time of the hearing, unemployed. True, she will receive considerable benefit and help from her inheritance. However, we cannot say that the lower court's determination was manifestly unjust, inequitable, or an abuse of discretion warranting this court to substitute its judgment therefor."

Appellant cites *Woolley v. Woolley*, 113 Utah 391, 195 P. 2d 743 (1948). We fail to find any reference to an inheritance vested or otherwise in this case. The court remanded the case to the lower court with directions to modify the decree for the reason that part of the funds jointly accumulated had been reinvested in speculative interests which may at some later date greatly increase the worth of the defendant husband. The court stated:

"If the money vested in the mining ventures has been earned by the efforts of defendant in his profession, the efforts of the wife and mother in taking care of the home and children have assisted defendant in its accumulation. Accordingly, she should not be denied her share of any increase in value that may result in the future."

“The effect of the decree as granted by the court below appears to have been to award the plaintiff a cash settlement in lieu of all alimony. It is doubtful that the court intended to retain jurisdiction of the matter for further proceedings in the event defendant realized on his mining investment. This should be done. \* \* \* The specific awards as ordered by the court will be permitted to stand except that the sums paid shall not be in lieu of all alimony.”

The *Woolley* case contains the often repeated statement to the effect that the decree of the trial court in divorce proceedings relating to alimony and division of property will not be modified except when the trial court has abused its discretion and cites *Allen v. Allen*, 109 Utah 99, 165 P. 2d 872 (1946), to that effect.

In the instant action the trial court was fully aware of the death of Dr. Hirth, of the extensive gifts made by him to the parties during his lifetime, his affection and confidence in the solidity of the marriage relationship and then by considered judgment excluded appellant from participation, directly or indirectly, in the inheritance of some \$75,000.00 which vested after the breakup of the marriage. We submit that under all of the authorities this was not an abuse of discretion and appellant cannot properly complain on that score. Appellant by his brief leaves the reader in considerable doubt as to how the inheritance could be considered “by the court in adjusting the rights of the parties in that estate”.

As to the contention that under the law of this state contingent future interests *must* be considered by the trial

court in adjusting the parties' rights in the marital estate as directed to respondent's expectancy in her mother's estate is of startling consequence. We challenge the statement as made and submit that this court in *MacDonald v. MacDonald*, supra, has declared just the opposite. If an expectancy in the estate of a living relative *must* be considered by the trial court, the door of discovery is opened onto a vista of endless consequences.

Section 30-3-11.1, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, is a legislative declaration of public policy of preserving marriages and promoting the public welfare by preserving and protecting the institution of matrimony. Just plain greed could thwart the whole business if the expectancy of inheritance from relatives now living could be exploited. The consequence of a discovery deposition directed to the monied father-in-law, mother-in-law, spinster aunt, uncle, or even a more distant relative, could balloon the whole discord of the marital relationship out of any semblance of perspective.

At this point it should be noted that Exhibit 15-D projecting appellant's assets including an item of \$95,000.00 attributable to the estate of his father and mother, Exhibit 16-B projecting respondent's assets including an estimate of Dr. Hirth's estate and the expectancy of her mother's estate (Mrs. Derry) and Exhibits 17-D entitled Final Analysis, but projecting inheritances and expectancies from the immediate family of both of the parties were not received into evidence and presumably not before the court for consideration.

## POINT II.

## THE TRIAL COURT EXPRESSLY REJECTED THE SO-CALLED "TRUST" THEORY AS THE BASIS OF ITS DIVISION OF THE MARITAL ESTATE.

Appellant mistakenly argues under his Point II that the trial court divided the marital estate on the theory that appellant was a trustee and that gifts from respondent's family constituted the corpus of what might be termed a trust estate held by appellant for the benefit of the respondent. The trial court expressly rejected this theory in the presence of all trial counsel after argument and before the Memorandum Decision. This will not be denied.

There was a complete disclosure of the property held by the parties, how the same was acquired, the efforts of each in doing so and basically the other factors as set forth and enumerated in *MacDonald v. MacDonald*, supra, and *Pinion v. Pinion*, supra. The equities of the situation are clearly evident and include the fact that respondent committed all property as received by her to her husband for investment and reinvestment to afford their standard of living (R. 129-130), and their mutual enjoyment and exclusive country clubs with golf and travel as their pastime (R. 136-138) and the endpoint of early retirement (age 55) on a principal accumulation of more than \$750,000.00.

Even a  $\frac{1}{4}$  interest in a portion of the Illinois farm property that respondent inherited before marriage was

later put in joint tenancy with her husband (R. 212-213). All cash that came to respondent from her family was delivered to appellant without question (R. 191, 217). Appellant stated the he never wanted respondent to suffer, to be without or to have to work again in her life (R. 202).

Exhibit 1-P, the record book kept by appellant in his own handwriting, at the page heretofore referred to, states the goal to be accomplished in the following words:

	Goal 1966 \$500,000.00
	Goal 1970 \$600,000.00
Goal 1975 Net Worth	Goal 1975 \$750,000.00
Born 1920 — Retire Age 55	

The affair with Marjorie Parry existed for a considerable length of time unbeknown to respondent. Appellant maintained a joint safety deposit box with Mrs. Parry in San Diego which he declined to reveal until he was furnished with evidence of a writing that such a joint safety deposit box existed (R. 198-200). The witness was shown Exhibit 5-P and recognized his handwriting on the document addressed to Mrs. Parry stating "pay (the attorney) if you have to. We have plenty in our safety deposit box in San Diego." Mrs. Parry's divorce was in July, 1970, (R. 184). He maintained a joint safety deposit box with Mrs. Parry in the Continental Bank in Salt Lake City (R. 187).

Furthermore, appellant no longer wished to remain married to respondent but "I have always wanted, and

still do want, the plaintiff to be happy and to have all of her wishes and needs reasonably satisfied" (R. 11). There is ample evidence in the record to justify the findings of the trial court that in light of the direct gifts and inheritances from plaintiff's side of the family, the accumulation of the parties during the marriage, including the investments and reinvestments of the gifts and inheritances and other assets "it is fair and equitable that the accumulations of the parties be divided, so far as can reasonably be done, on a basis of 60 per cent to the plaintiff and 40 per cent to the defendant" (R. 37).

The allocation of the property was not on the theory that the gifts be isolated from the so-called marital estate but to the contrary, the same were treated as a part of the marital estate which estate the court divided on a basis deemed to be fair and equitable.

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